THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Dale E. Van Slambrook, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-10-4408

Appellate Case No. 2024-002103

,Crescent Homes Realty, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Brenda Kennedy, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

A. Riley Holmes, Jr.
Allan R. Holmes
GIBBS & HOLMES
171 Church Street, Suite 110
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 722-0033
Attorney for Appellant

Marybeth Mullaney
4900 O'Hear Avenue
Suites 100 & 200
North Charleston, SC 29405
(843) 588-5587
Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED

May 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in holding that a party waived its contractual right to compel arbitration of collective and class Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and South Carolina Payment of Wages Act (SCPWA) claims when it filed a *pro se* debt collection action in Small Claims Court, limited to only \$7500, seeking the return of draws it had advanced a former independent contractor?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began on July 14, 2023, with the *pro se* commencement of an action in Small Claims Court by the Appellant, Crescent Homes Realty LLC, a real estate broker, against Brenda Kennedy, a real estate sales agent, who worked pursuant to a written Independent Contractor Agreement. (*See* Complaint of Crescent Homes Realty, LLC, filed July 14, 2023). The Small Claims action sought to collect draws which had been advanced to Ms. Kennedy but not repaid as required by the Agreement. *See id.* While the Complaint asserted that Ms. Kennedy owed \$8,991.92, it stated that it was “only requesting repayment in the full amount of \$7,500 allowed by this Court”—Crescent specifically lowered the damages it sought in order to stay within the jurisdictional amount allowed by the Small Claims Court. *Id.* at 2.

Respondent Kennedy filed her Answer and Counterclaims in the Small Claims Court on August 30, 2023. (*See* Answer of Brenda Kennedy, filed Aug. 30, 2023). Her counterclaims seek class and collective relief based upon alleged failures to pay overtime under the federal Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201, *et seq.* (FLSA) and a corresponding alleged failure to pay those amounts as wages under the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-10, *et seq.* (SCPWA); any relief due to her under those statutes relies on Crescent’s alleged misclassification of her—and allegedly others like her—as an independent contractor rather than a nonexempt employee during the time she worked as a Crescent real estate agent. *See id.* With

her Answer and Counterclaims, Respondent included a letter to the Small Claims Court requesting that the case be removed to the Court of Common Pleas. (Answer and Counterclaims at 13). The Small Claims Court determined that the damages alleged by the counterclaims exceeded the \$7500 jurisdictional limit of that Court and thus transferred the case to the Court of Common Pleas in Charleston County. (*See* Transfer Order, filed in the Court of Common Pleas on Sept. 8, 2023).

Before pursuing any additional litigation or otherwise responding to Kennedy's pleading, Crescent Homes Realty, LLC timely filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings and Compel Arbitration, pursuant to a contractual Arbitration Agreement between the parties. (*See* Plaintiff's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration, filed Oct. 20, 2023) (hereinafter "Arbitration Motion"). On October 9, 2024, Crescent filed its Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration. (Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration, filed Oct.9, 2024) (hereinafter "Arbitration Memo"). Respondent then filed her Memorandum in Opposition on October 10, 2024. (Defendant's Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Motion to Stay Proceedings and Compel Arbitration, filed Oct. 10, 2024) (hereinafter "Opposition Memo"). On October 14, 2024, Crescent filed its Reply Memorandum. (Plaintiff's Reply Memorandum, filed Oct. 14, 2024) (hereinafter "Reply Memo"). The night before the Hearing, Ms. Kennedy filed a Reply in Opposition to Crescent's Reply. (Defendant's Reply in Opposition, filed Oct. 15, 2024) (hereinafter "Opposition Reply"). Crescent filed a Surreply Memorandum in response on the day of the Hearing. (Plaintiff's Surreply Memorandum, filed Oct. 16, 2024) (hereinafter "Surreply").

The Honorable Dale E. Van Slambrook, heard oral arguments on October 16, 2024, in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas. (*See* Transcript of Hearing, hereinafter "Transcript"). On November 25, 2024, Judge Van Slambrook issued an Order denying Crescent's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration. (Order of Nov. 25, 2024). Crescent timely filed its Notice of Appeal on

December 12, 2024. (Notice of Appeal, filed Dec. 12, 2024). Appellant received the Transcript of the Hearing on March 25, 2025. (*See* E-mail of Melissa R. Singletary, March 25, 2025); (Transcript). Within thirty days of its receipt, Appellant filed and was granted a Motion for an Extension of Time to file its Initial Brief. (Appellant’s Motion for Extension of Time to File Initial Brief, filed April 22, 2025); (Order Granting Extension, filed April 29, 2025). Appellant’s Initial Brief is timely filed. *See id.*

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant, Crescent Homes Realty, LLC (hereinafter “Crescent”), a real estate broker, filed a *pro se* collection action in Small Claims Court against the Respondent, Brenda Kennedy (hereinafter “Kennedy”), its former real estate sales agent. (*See* Complaint). The Complaint alleges that Kennedy failed to repay draws that she had borrowed from Crescent Homes—and had a contractual obligation to repay pursuant to the Independent Contractor Agreement that governed the parties’ relationship—when she resigned with no notice. (*Id.* at 1-2). Although Crescent alleges that Ms. Kennedy owes Crescent \$8991.92, Crescent intentionally limited its damages to \$7500.00 in order to stay within the jurisdiction of the Small Claims Court. (*Id.* at 2).

In response, Ms. Kennedy filed an Answer and Counterclaims, along with a request that the Small Claims Court transfer the action to the Court of Common Pleas because her alleged damages were greater than \$7500. (*See* Answer at 13). Her counterclaims seek class and collective relief—she estimates a class size of over one hundred people—based on Crescent’s alleged violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act (SCPWA) during the time she worked as a Crescent real estate agent. *Id.* at 3. The crux of her case is her claim Crescent violated the FLSA by misclassifying her as an independent contractor

rather than a non-exempt employee. *Id.* Due to this alleged misclassification, Kennedy claims that Crescent further violated the FLSA by failing to pay her overtime and by failing to pay her for all time she allegedly worked. *Id.* at 2-11. As a result, Ms. Kennedy additionally claims these amounts are due to her as wages under the SCPWA. *Id.* at 9-10. Per Respondent's request, the Small Claims Court transferred this case to the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas. (*See* Transfer Order).

Based on a broad arbitration clause contained in the Independent Contractor Agreement between Crescent and Kennedy, Appellant then moved to stay the litigation and compel arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"). (*See* Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration).

The Arbitration Clause reads:

9. Arbitration. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be submitted to mandatory, confidential arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association under its Commercial Arbitration Rules, in Charleston, South Carolina. The parties agree to bring any dispute in arbitration on an individual basis only, and not as a class, collective or private attorney general representative action basis. The arbitrator(s) shall not have the authority to address class or collective claims. Judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

(Independent Contractor Agreement at 7, Exh. To Complaint). Additionally, the first page of the Independent Contractor Agreement states in bold capital letters:

THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT, S. C. CODE § 15-48-10 et. seq., and the FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT, 9 U.S.C. § 1 et. seq.

Id. at 1. In its Motion, Crescent asserted that:

- (a) A valid Arbitration Agreement exists between the parties;
- (b) The Arbitration Agreement is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, as it evidences a transaction in interstate commerce, and pursuant to § 3 of that Act, the Court should stay any further proceedings beyond those seeking an order compelling arbitration and submit the matter to arbitration;

- (c) All causes of action asserted are subject to arbitration under the broad language of the arbitration agreement, but a determination of their arbitrability is reserved exclusively to the Arbitrator; and
- (d) Crescent has demanded arbitration in accordance with the arbitration agreement so as to resolve all claims.

(Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration at 1-2).

Neither party has disputed that the arbitration clause is valid and enforceable. Neither party has disputed that the FAA applies to this Arbitration Agreement or that Crescent demanded arbitration in accordance with the agreement. Neither party has disputed that the Arbitration Agreement applies to the claims at issue. However, Kennedy opposed Crescent's Arbitration Motion because she claims that Crescent waived its right to arbitrate the FLSA and SCPWA collective and class claims by filing the debt collection action in Small Claims Court. (*See generally* Opposition Memo).

Kennedy asserts that Crescent knew of its right to arbitrate and acted inconsistently with that right, thereby waiving its right to arbitrate the other claims. (*Id.* at 1). She points out that Crescent filed a copy of the Independent Contractor Agreement, containing the Arbitration Agreement, with its Small Claims Complaint, evidencing that it knew of its right to arbitrate at that time. (*Id.* at 2); (Complaint at 3). Neither party disputes that the debt collection claim could have been subject to arbitration pursuant to the Arbitration Agreement had Appellant commenced it in arbitration. The question before this Court is whether Crescent, by filing that Small Claims debt collection action, waived its right to compel arbitration for the unrelated FLSA and SCPWA claims.

Relying on the great weight of legal authority, which holds that a party only waives the right to arbitrate if the prior litigation activities are related – both factually and legally – to the claims at issue, Appellant posited to the lower court that this question was easily answered, “No.” *See,*

e.g., Microstrategy, Inc. v. Lauricia, 268 F.3d 244, 250-251 (4th Cir. 2001); (Reply Memo at 2). Appellant asserted that the counterclaims are not sufficiently related to the original debt collection action for its filing to constitute waiver of the right to arbitrate those later claims. (*Id.* at 5); (Transcript at 6). Although Crescent may have known of its right to arbitrate at the time it filed the debt collection action, its filing that action was not acting inconsistently with its right to arbitrate the unrelated FLSA and SCPWA claims. However, the trial judge disagreed, holding that:

Defendant's counter claims are sufficiently related to the debt collection action since Defendant filed the claims in defense of the action that Plaintiff initiated. Additionally, the SCPWA and FLSA claims are relevant to whether Defendant owes the debt. The Court further finds Plaintiff knew of its right to arbitrate but explicitly chose not to exercise that right by filing an action and Plaintiff waived its right to compel arbitration by acting inconsistently with the right to arbitrate by commencing this action.

(Order Denying Arbitration at 3). This is an Appeal of that Order.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Arbitrability determinations are subject to de novo review.” *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 453, 730 S.E.2d 312, 315 (2012). “Whether a party waived its right to arbitrate is a legal conclusion subject to de novo review; nevertheless, the circuit judge's factual findings underlying that conclusion will not be overruled if there is any evidence reasonably supporting them. *Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 664-65, 521 S.E.2d 749, 753 (Ct. App. 1999). “[T]he party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 759 S.E.2d 727 (2014), quoting, *Green Tree Fin. Corp.-Ala. v. Randolph*, 531 U.S. 79, 91, 121 S. Ct. 513, 148 L. Ed. 2d 373 (2000).

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT CRESCENT HOMES REALTY, LLC WAIVED ITS RIGHT TO COMPEL ARBITRATION OF AN FLSA COLLECTIVE ACTION AND A RULE 23 SCPWA CLASS ACTION BY FILING A *PRO SE* DEBT COLLECTION ACTION IN SMALL CLAIMS COURT, LIMITED TO \$7500, SEEKING THE RETURN OF DRAWS IT HAD ADVANCED TO A FORMER INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.

I. **A valid Arbitration Agreement exists between the parties; the FAA applies to this Arbitration Agreement; and while the claims at issue are subject to Arbitration, the Arbitration Agreement requires that arbitrability be decided by the arbitrator.**

Arbitration is a matter of contract between the parties and a way to resolve only those disputes that the parties have agreed to submit to arbitration. *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 943, 115 S.Ct. 1920, 1924, 131 L.Ed.2d 985 (1995). The FAA applies in state or federal court to any arbitration agreement involving interstate commerce, unless the parties contract otherwise. *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001). The purpose of the FAA is “to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, but not more so.” *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 404 n.12, 87 S. Ct. 1801, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1270 (1967). “A party seeking to compel arbitration under the FAA must establish that (1) there is a valid agreement, and (2) the claims fall within the scope of the agreement.” *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 336, 827 S.E.2d 167, 173 (2019) (citing *Carr v. Main Carr Dev., LLC*, 337 S.W.3d 489, 494 (Tex. App. 2011)).

“General contract principles of state law apply to arbitration clauses governed by the FAA.” *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 364 (2001), citing, *Doctor's Assoc., Inc. v. Casarotto*, 517 U.S. 681, 685, 134 L. Ed. 2d 902, 116 S. Ct. 1652 (1996); *Allied-Bruce Terminix Companies, Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 281, 130 L. Ed. 2d 753, 115 S.

Ct. 834 (1995); *Moses H. Cone Mem. Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 24, 74 L. Ed. 2d 765, 103 S. Ct. 927 (1983); *see also Keystone, Inc. v. Triad Systems Corp.*, 1998 MT 326, 971 P.2d 1240, 292 Mont. 229 (Mont. 1998) (applying general state law to arbitration clause governed by FAA). “State law remains applicable if that law, whether legislative or judicial, arose to govern issues concerning the validity, revocability, and enforceability of all contracts generally.” *Id.* (citing *Perry v. Thomas*, 482 U.S. 483, 492 n. 9, 96 L. Ed. 2d 426, 107 S. Ct. 2520 (1987)). A written provision for arbitration in any contract involving interstate commerce “shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.” 9 U.S.C.A. § 2.

A. A valid Arbitration Agreement exists between the parties.

Respondent has not disputed the validity of the Arbitration Agreement or that the FAA applies to it. There is no question but that the parties have a valid agreement under the terms of the Independent Contractor Agreement. Their Agreement is headed with the following notice and contains an arbitration clause:

THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT, S. C. CODE § 15-48-10 *et. seq.*, and the FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT, 9 U.S.C. § 1 *et. seq.*

(Independent Contractor Agreement at 1, attached to Complaint). The Arbitration Clause reads:

9. Arbitration. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be submitted to mandatory, confidential arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association under its Commercial Arbitration Rules, in Charleston, South Carolina. The parties agree to bring any dispute in arbitration on an individual basis only, and not as a class, collective or private attorney general representative action basis. The arbitrator(s) shall not have the authority to address class or collective claims. Judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

(Independent Contractor Agreement at 7, Exh. To Complaint).

Both parties reviewed and signed the Independent Contract Agreement, entering into a valid bilateral contract bound by mutual promises. By signing the Agreement, Kennedy manifested her assent to its terms, including the Arbitration Agreement. A valid Arbitration Agreement between the parties exists. *See, e.g., Lampo v. Amedisys Holding, LLC*, 445 S.C. 305, 914 S.E.2d 139, 2025 S.C. LEXIS 31 (2025) (arbitration agreement is a bilateral contract; the elements necessary for the formation of any contract are (1) an offer, (2) acceptance of the offer, and (3) the mutual exchange of benefits the law calls “consideration.”)

B. The FAA applies to this Arbitration Agreement.

Further, Crescent Realty is engaged in the sale of real estate, and that real estate was marketed and sold in interstate commerce by Respondent Kennedy. Kennedy has not disputed that the FAA applies to the Arbitration Agreement. Indeed, in her Answer and Counterclaim, she specifically alleges that: “At all times pertinent to this Complaint, Crescent Entities were enterprises engaged in interstate commerce or in the production of interstate commerce as defined by the Act, 29 U.S.C. § 203(r) and 203(s). Upon information and belief, the annual gross sales volume of the Crescent Entities was more than \$500,000.00 per year at all times material hereto.” (Answer and Counterclaim at para. 32). Consequently, because the Agreement involves interstate commerce, the FAA applies to this Agreement. *See, e.g., Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. at 538, 542 S.E.2d at 363 (2001) (FAA applies in state or federal court to any arbitration agreement involving interstate commerce).

C. The parties delegated the question of arbitrability to the Arbitrator.

Moreover, while it is certain that the claims at issue are subject to arbitration under the broad scope of the Arbitration Agreement, it is also certain that the parties have agreed to submit that decision to the arbitrator. “Under the [FAA], arbitration is a matter of contract, and courts

must enforce arbitration contracts according to their terms.” *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63, 139 S. Ct. 524, 529, 202 L. Ed. 2d 480 (2019).

In their contracts, “parties may agree to have an arbitrator decide not only the merits of a particular dispute but also ‘gateway questions of arbitrability, such as whether the parties have agreed to arbitrate or whether their agreement covers a particular controversy.’” *Henry Schein*, 139 S. Ct. at 529 (quoting *Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 68-69, 130 S. Ct. 2772, 177 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2010)). “An agreement to arbitrate a gateway issue is simply an additional, antecedent agreement the party seeking arbitration asks the federal court to enforce, and the FAA operates on this additional arbitration agreement just as it does on any other.” *Rent-A-Center*, 561 U.S. at 70.

Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. Hub Int'l Ltd., 130 F.4th 396, 2025 U.S. App. LEXIS 5367 at *5-6 (4th Cir. 2025). “If the parties' contract delegates gateway arbitrability questions to an arbitrator, then a court must enforce that delegation.” *Id.* at *6. “In those circumstances, a court possesses no power to decide the arbitrability issue.” *Id.* (citing *Henry Schein*, 139 S. Ct. at 529).

In *Berkeley County School District*, the parties had entered into arbitration agreements that specifically incorporated the AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules; those Rules delegate questions regarding scope and validity of the Arbitration Agreement to the Arbitrator. As a result, the Fourth Circuit upheld the District Court’s finding that, by incorporating the AAA Commercial Rules, the parties had delegated the question of arbitrability to the Arbitrator. *Berkeley County*, 2025 U.S. App. LEXIS 5367 at *9-10. As the Court stated, “the arbitration provisions incorporate the AAA commercial rules, which provide that the arbitrator “‘shall have the power to rule on his or her own jurisdiction, including any objections with respect to the existence, scope, or validity of the arbitration agreement or to the arbitrability of any claim or counterclaim.’” *Id.* at *9 (quoting *Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. Hub Int'l Ltd.*, No. 2:18-cv-00151-DCN, 2024 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 59484 at *14 n.24 (D.S.C. March 30, 2024) (quoting AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules, R-7(a)

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