RECEIVED

Oct 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Dale E. Van Slambrook, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2023-CP-10-4408

Appellate Case No. 2024-002103

Crescent Homes Realty, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Brenda Kennedy, Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Marybeth Mullaney
MULLANEY LAW
4900 O'Hear Avenue
Suites 100 & 200
North Charleston, SC 29405
(843) 588-5587
Attorney for Respondent

A. Riley Holmes, Jr.
Allan R. Holmes
GIBBS & HOLMES
171 Church Street, Suite 110
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 722-0033
Attorney for Appellant

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

ARGUMENT

I. CRESCENT WAIVED ITS RIGHT TO ARBITRATE BASED ON THE TEST SET FORTH IN THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT’S DECISION IN *MORGAN V. SUNDANCE*, BECAUSE THEY KNEW THEY HAD EXISTING RIGHT TO ARBITRATE AND ACTED INCONSISTENTLY WITH THAT RIGHT BY FILING A LAWSUIT.

In *Morgan v. Sundance, Inc.*, 596 U.S. 411, 142 S. Ct. 1708, 212 L. Ed. 2d 753 (2022), the Supreme Court unanimously rejected the prejudice-focused arbitration waiver inquiry. Prior to *Morgan*, South Carolina, like most jurisdictions, required a party asserting waiver to show they were prejudiced. *See e.g. Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth-Jeep, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 219, 221, 391 S.E.2d 576, 577 (Ct. App. 1990) (“A party may waive its right to arbitration if it acts inconsistently with that right and causes prejudice to the other party.”) The *Morgan* Court rejected the prejudice

requirement holding that federal courts may not condition waiver of arbitration on a showing of prejudice. *Morgan*, 596 U.S. at 414. Instead, courts must consider whether the party knowingly relinquished the right to arbitrate and acted inconsistently with that right. *Id.* at 411,412.

The *Morgan* Court made clear that courts may not craft arbitration-specific procedural rules under Section 6 of the FAA. That provision “is a bar on using custom-made rules, to tilt the playing field in favor of (or against) arbitration.” 596 U.S. at 419. “To decide whether a waiver has occurred, the court focuses on the actions of the person who held the right; the court seldom considers the effects of those actions on the opposing party.” *Id.* at 417, 142 S. Ct. at 1713. South Carolina law is consistent with this approach. In *Lampo v. Amedisys Holding, LLC*, 445 S.C. 305, 317, 914 S.E.2d 139, 146 (2025) our Supreme Court stated that it dispensed with the notion there is a federal and state “policy favoring arbitration. “The FAA requires that courts treat arbitration agreements the same as all other contracts—no more, no less.” *Id.* at 241, 877 S.E.2d at 489. *See Palmetto Constr. Grp. v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 639, 856 S.E.2d 150, 153 (2021) (“There is . . . no public policy—federal or state—'favoring' arbitration.”). Waiver is the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right.” *Provident Life & Accident Ins. Co. v. Driver*, 317 S.C. 471, 478, 451 S.E.2d 924, 929 (Ct. App. 1994). Since both South Carolina courts and the U.S. Supreme Court in *Morgan* have made clear that arbitration agreements must be treated like any other contract, the same waiver principles apply.

Applying these principles, Crescent knowingly and voluntarily waived its right to arbitrate its dispute with Kennedy when it filed suit in magistrate court to recover the same draws that it now seeks to arbitrate. There is no dispute that Crescent clearly knew of its right to arbitrate, as evidenced by the agreement it attached with summons and complaint. (*See* Complaint of Crescent Homes Realty, LLC, filed July 14, 2023). By initiating this lawsuit instead of seeking to arbitrate,

Crescent acted inconsistently with that right and thereby waived it. Lastly to the extent Crescent claimed it did not waive its right to arbitrate FLSA and SCPWA collective and class claims, Kennedy has not moved to certify a class, nor does she intend to. Therefore, the lower court correctly held that according to the test articulated in *Morgan*, Crescent waived its right to arbitrate

II. CRESCENT’S ARGUMENT THAT KENNEDY’S COUNTERCLAIMS ARE UNRELATED LACKS LEGAL OR FACTUAL SUPPORT.

Crescent argues that Kennedy’s counterclaims are unrelated to its claim for repayment of draws. This argument lacks merit. Kennedy’s counterclaims arise from the same Agreement that Crescent is seeking to enforce. She contends that the Agreement’s labeling of her as an independent contractor is unenforceable to the extent it misclassifies her. Kennedy contends that she was an employee. This classification is central to determining whether Crescent has a right to recover draws and whether Kennedy is entitled to wages and damages. Additionally, Kennedy has asserted that any amounts allegedly owed to Crescent are offset by the unpaid wages and damages Crescent owes her. Her counterclaims are therefore not merely related; they go directly to the heart of Crescent’s claim and operate as both a defense and an offset.

Crescent’s argument that her claims aren’t related because she could have filed a lawsuit regardless of whether Crescent sued her is flawed. The fact that Kennedy could have initiated a separate lawsuit does not mean her claims are unrelated for purposes of compulsory counterclaims. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has made clear, “[b]y definition, a counterclaim is compulsory only if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence as the opposing party’s claim.” *First-Citizens Bank & Tr. Co. of S.C. v. Hucks*, 305 S.C. 296, 298, 408 S.E.2d 222, 223 (1991). This is precisely the case here, both parties’ claims stem from the same underlying employment relationship and the same operative facts.

Crescent relies on *Ford v. UHG I LLC, Case No. 22-cv-00840-LKG, 2023 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 31069* however, *Ford* is distinguishable from the facts here. In *Ford*, the party seeking arbitration was the defendant, who invoked its right to arbitrate after being sued. There the court found no waiver because the party seeking to enforce the arbitration agreement didn't initiate the court proceedings. By contrast, Crescent affirmatively filed a lawsuit against Kennedy in magistrate court, invoking the judicial process and thus acting inconsistently with a right to arbitrate.

The circuit court made specific factual findings regarding Crescent's litigation conduct and waiver of arbitration and did not find Crescent's argument that the claims were unrelated compelling. Under the applicable standard of review, those findings should not be disturbed on appeal because they are supported by evidence in the record. See *Thornton v. Trident Med. Ctr., L.L.C.*, 357 S.C. 91, 94, 592 S.E.2d 50, 51 (Ct. App. 2003) ("The factual findings of the trial court will not be disturbed on appeal if there is any evidence to support them."). The lower court questioned Crescent's counsel on this point.

COURT: I guess, the posture that the case is in now the suit by the plaintiff of the recovery of the commissions that, I guess, what they're saying is the defense, well, we don't owe you the money, because I guess I've earned it, and y'all are not doing the right thing or improperly paying me or not paying me according to the National Standards. So that appears to be the defense and that certainly appears interrelated and is that not or wouldn't that be a mandatory counter [claim]¹? (See. Transcript p.11 ln. 25-26 – p.12 ln. 1-7)

Moreover, the Court made the following findings of fact in its Order,

The Court finds that Defendant's SCPWA and FLSA counter claims are sufficiently related to the debt-collection claim since Defendant filed the claims in defense of the action that Plaintiff initiated. Additionally, the SCPWA and FLSA claims are relevant to whether Defendant owes the debt. (See. Order November 25, 2023, p. 3)

¹ The transcript states "mandatory counter playing" however Respondent contends this is an error in transcribing and what the court said was "mandatory counter claim" not "mandatory counter playing"

Thus, the circuit court's factual findings regarding Crescent's litigation conduct formed the basis for its conclusion that Crescent waived its right to arbitration. Because those findings are supported by the record, they should not be disturbed on appeal.

The facts of this case closely parallel those in *Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 660, 521 S.E.2d 749, 750 (Ct. App. 1999), where the South Carolina Court of Appeals found waiver of arbitration. In that case, Liberty Builders filed for a mechanics' lien and then filed an action to foreclose on that mechanics' lien. The homeowners answered and counterclaimed alleging that Liberty used defective materials in construction. The parties pursued this litigation for two and one-half years before Liberty Builders moved to stay the action in favor of arbitration. The court held that Liberty waived its right to arbitration by filing suit and invoking the judicial process in a manner inconsistent with the arbitration agreement.

The same reasoning applies here. Crescent initiated this action in magistrate court to enforce an Agreement that contained an arbitration clause. Kennedy then filed counterclaims, and the case was removed to circuit court. Only after Kennedy asserted rights under the contract, including her contention that she was misclassified and is owed wages, did Crescent attempt to invoke arbitration. Just as in *Liberty Builders*, Crescent's decision to pursue judicial relief, rather than arbitration, reflects conduct inconsistent with preserving a right to arbitrate. Moreover, *Liberty Builders* was decided before the U.S. Supreme Court's ruling in *Morgan v. Sundance, Inc.*, 596 U.S. 411 (2022), which clarified that a showing of prejudice is not required for waiver. Under *Morgan*, the focus is squarely on whether a party knowingly engaged in litigation conduct inconsistent with its claimed right to arbitrate. *Liberty Builders* supports waiver even under the stricter pre-*Morgan* standard; thus, *Liberty Builders* provides even stronger support for finding

waiver under the current framework. Crescent’s actions here meet that standard, and its request to compel arbitration should be denied.

II. CRESCENT’S RELIANCE ON *MICROSTRATEGY, INC. V. LAURICIA* IS MISPLACED, BECAUSE IT PREDATES *MORGAN V. SUNDANCE, INC.*, WHICH EXPRESSLY REJECTED THE REQUIREMENT THAT A PARTY DEMONSTRATE PREJUDICE TO ESTABLISH WAIVER.

Crescent’s reliance on *MicroStrategy, Inc. v. Lauricia*, 268 F.3d 244 (4th Cir. 2001), is misplaced. That decision is fundamentally at odds with the Supreme Court’s ruling in *Morgan*. *MicroStrategy* held that a party asserting waiver of arbitration must show that it suffered “actual prejudice.” 268 F.3d at 249 (citing *Fraser v. Merrill Lynch Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.*, 817 F.2d 250, 252 (4th Cir. 1987)). Yet in *Morgan*, the Supreme Court rejected the prejudice requirement outright, holding that courts “may not make up a new procedural rule based on the FAA’s policy favoring arbitration.” *Morgan*, 596 U.S. at 417. The *Morgan*, Court clarified that the proper test is whether the party seeking arbitration “knowingly relinquished” the right to arbitrate by acting inconsistently with that right. *Id.* at 419. Because *MicroStrategy* applies a now-rejected legal standard, it is not controlling and cannot save Crescent from waiver.

While Crescent contends that *MicroStrategy* remains good law in part, particularly its discussion of whether the prior litigation and claims are “factually and legally” related, this argument fails. The “relatedness” analysis is inherently fact-specific, and in this case contrary to Crescent’s claims, the dispute arises from the same Agreement and set of facts. Namely, whether Kennedy was misclassified and whether she owes or is owed money under that agreement. Moreover, this argument overlooks that the lower made a factual finding that the claims and counterclaims are related.

III. THIS CASE IS SIMILAR TO *ROPER V. OLIPHANT FIN., LLC*, WHERE THE COURT FOUND DEFENDANT OLIPHANT FIN. LLC WAIVED ITS RIGHT TO COMPEL ARBITRATION.

The facts in this case are similar to the facts in *Roper v. Oliphant Fin., LLC*, No. 23-2112-BAH, 2024 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 164090, at *19 (D. Md. Sep. 12, 2024) *17 (D. Md. Feb. 23, 2023). In that case the Plaintiff Thelma Roper (“Roper”) obtained a personal loan (the "Loan") in the amount of \$16,900 through a website operated by Lending Club Corporation. ("LendingClub") *Id.* at *2. Roper’s Loan was sold and assigned to Oliphant; Roper defaulted on the loan. *Id.* Oliphant brought a debt-collection action against Roper in the District Court of Maryland. *Id.* Roper filed a motion to dismiss, arguing that the claim was barred by the statute of limitations. *Id.* at *3. The court granted the motion to dismiss. *Id.* Roper subsequently filed a putative class action alleging violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq. ("FDCPA"), the Maryland Consumer Debt Collection Act, Md. Code Ann. Com. L. § 14-201 et seq. ("MCDCA"), and the Maryland Consumer Protection Act, Md. Code. Ann. Com. L. § 13-101 et seq. ("MCPA”) *Id.* at *2. Oliphant filed a motion to compel. *Id.* at *3. Roper argued that Oliphant waived the right to compel arbitration by filing a debt collection lawsuit against her. *Id.* at *7.

The court agreed, holding Oliphant had the right to arbitrate its debt-collection claims against Roper, but explicitly chose not to do so by filing a lawsuit to collect the debt. *Id.* at *18 Moreover, the court held that the FDCPA, MCDCA, and MCPA claims were sufficiently related to the claims in the prior debt-collection to show that the defendant waived the right to compel arbitration. *Id.* The court distinguished its ruling from the *Ford v. UHG I LLC* decision, stating that, unlike Ford, where the plaintiffs would have brought the action regardless of the underlying debt-collection suit because it involved matters that predated the lawsuit, Roper’s case arose exclusively out of defendants' conduct in the prior litigation. *Id.* at *19. The court pointed out that the defendants initiated and fully participated in litigation, and when the propriety of that litigation was challenged, the defendants, for the first time, invoked the arbitration provision as a defense

even though the claims grew directly out of the adverse judgment in the previous suit. *Id.* at *19-20.

The facts here are similar to *Roper v. Oliphant* and not *Ford v. UHG I LLC*. Kennedy's counterclaims, like Roper's claims, are related to the lawsuit that Crescent initiated against her. Moreover, had Crescent not initiated its action against Kennedy, she would not have filed a separate action against Crescent. She filed her counterclaims as defense and/or off set against the draws Crescent alleges she owes.

CONCLUSION

The lower court properly held Crescent waived its right to compel arbitration when they relinquished their right arbitrate and filed a lawsuit Kennedy. The circuit court's factual findings are supported by the record and are entitled to deference. This Court should affirm the denial of Crescent's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration.